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The Honorable Veronica Galván 
Hearing Date: November 18, 2022 at 10 a.m. 

With Oral Argument 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
 

 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 

 
ACN & ASSOCIATES LLC, a Washington 
limited liability company and ANA 
CAROLINE PINTO DO NASCIMENTO, 
individually,  
 
 Defendants. 
 

NO. 22-2-15673-2 SEA 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON’S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Targeting Brazilian nationals seeking legal status in the United States, Defendants 

deceptively market immigration related legal services despite not being attorneys or otherwise 

authorized to represent individuals in immigration proceedings under federal law—a practice that 

has persisted for months. The State of Washington (State) seeks to prevent continued harm to 

Washington consumers caused by Defendant Ana Caroline Pinto do Nascimento (Nascimento), and 

her business, ACN & Associates LLC (ACN) (collectively, the Defendants). 

After repeatedly holding herself out as an attorney to noncitizens appearing in Seattle and 

Tacoma immigration courts, Nascimento received a cease and desist letter from the United States 

Department of Justice, Office of General Counsel for the Executive Office for Immigration Review 
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in April 2022. Despite the unequivocal warning from the federal government, Nascimento has not 

stopped preying on Brazilian nationals in Washington.  

Defendants’ conduct blatantly violates Washington law, including the Immigration Services 

Fraud Prevention Act, RCW 19.154, the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), RCW 19.86, and the 

State Bar Act, RCW 2.48.180. Defendants’ continued unlawful practice of law and deceptive 

marketing poses an imminent threat to Washington consumers, by continuing to charge exorbitant 

fees for services they cannot legally or competently provide.  

The State now moves this Court to issue an order preliminarily enjoining Defendants, and 

anyone acting on their behalf from: 

1.  Practicing law;1 

2.  Advertising or marketing legal services by any means; 

3. Selling, or offering for sale, any legal service, without limitation, including legal 

document preparation, petitions for asylum, U Visas, adjustment of immigration status, or 

applications for employment authorization; and 

4. Engaging in any other conduct that violates the Immigration Services Fraud 

Prevention Act, CPA, and/or State Bar Act. 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Defendants Illegally Market and Sell Immigration Related Legal Services. 

 Nascimento and her firm, ACN, market immigration-related legal services to Portuguese 

speaking immigrants in Washington. See Croke Decl. ¶¶ 2–3, Exs. 1–2 at pp. 2–7;  

Millett Decl. ¶¶ 5, 9, Ex. 2 at pp. 7–9, Ex. 6 at pp. 26–27; Croke Decl. ¶ 7, Ex. 6 at pp. 19–20. 

Defendants have advertised their business to the general public on the Internet at 

https://acnassociates.com, where they claimed to provide “[e]xpertise you can rely on” and 

offered “immigration law you can understand.” Millett Decl. ¶ 4, Ex. 1. Nascimento holds herself 

and her firm out to consumers as having expertise in immigration law. Through ACN’s website, 
                                                 
1 As defined by Washington States Courts General Rule 24. 
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Nascimento represents to the public that she specializes “in Immigration Law, working with 

petitions to the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services since 2019 to request 

immigration and non-immigration benefits.” Millett Decl. ¶¶ 6, 8, Ex. 3 at p. 14, Ex. 5 at p. 22; 

Croke Decl. ¶ 6, Ex. 5 at p. 15. 

 These online representations continue when consumers contact Defendants directly. 

When consumers reach out to Defendants to request legal assistance in an immigration matter, 

including the assistance of a lawyer to accompany them to an upcoming court hearing, 

Defendants represent they can assist them. Croke Decl. ¶¶ 8–13, Ex. 9 at pp. 44–45,  

Ex. 11 at p. 88, Ex. 13 at pp. 134–136. Defendants misrepresent Nascimento’s qualifications by 

referring to her as a “doctor” and offering legal services when prospective customers enquire 

about hiring an attorney. See, e.g., Croke Decl., Ex. 9 at pp. 54–55; Ex. 13 at p. 154.  

 When consumers hire Defendants, Defendants provide customers with a Contract for 

Services with ACN stating that ACN will provide them immigration related legal services, 

including that ACN “will process and be responsible for the completion of your Asylum 

Application” and “Work Employment Authorizations.” Croke Decl. ¶¶ 16 and 17,  

Ex. 15 at p. 197, Ex. 16 at p. 204. Even though Defendants’ clients speak Portuguese and 

communicate with Defendants in Portuguese only, Defendants’ contracts for services are entirely 

in English. Id. 

 Defendants make these representations online, directly to consumers, and through written 

contracts without having a basis to do so. Nascimento is not licensed to practice law in any 

jurisdiction, commonwealth, or territory of the United States of America. Croke Decl. ¶ 15,  

Ex. 14 at pp. 188–189. Nor is Nascimento an “accredited representative” under a federal scheme 

permitting limited non-attorney representation before various immigration courts. Id.  

B. Defendants Were Warned Against Practicing in Immigration Courts  

 On April 20, 2022, the U.S. Department of Justice, Executive Office of Immigration 

Review (EOIR), sent a Cease and Desist letter to Nascimento notifying Nascimento that her 
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practices may be illegal. Croke Decl. ¶ 4, Ex. 3 at pp. 9–10. The Cease and Desist stated that a 

number of individual noncitizens had recently appeared in Immigration Court in Seattle and 

Tacoma, Washington, and had reported that Nascimento represented herself as an attorney or as 

otherwise able to assist them in immigration matters. Id. Several complained that they expected 

her to appear but she backed out at the last moment. Id. The Cease and Desist notified 

Nascimento that such actions, if true, would amount to a crime under Washington law, 

specifically, the Unauthorized Practice of Law, and could amount to fraud. Id. 

C. Defendants’ Deceptive Acts and Practices Continued Following the Warning, and 
Target and Impact Immigrants from Brazil 

 Shortly after Defendants received the Cease and Desist, they updated their website from 

English to Portuguese. See Millett Decl. ¶¶ 7–9, Exs. 4–6 at pp. 18–27. While the website 

changed some details, it continues to market legal services to consumers. See  

Croke Decl. ¶¶ 5–8, Exs. 4–7 at pp. 12–22. Defendants contract with Portuguese-speaking staff 

in Brazil to help in communicating with the various Portuguese-speaking consumers, including 

via WhatsApp. Croke Decl. ¶¶ 18–19, Ex. 17 at p. 210, Ex. 18 at p. 216. Nascimento also 

communicates with consumers in Portuguese. See, e.g., Croke Decl. ¶¶ 13–14,  

Ex. 12 at pp. 105–106 (original Portuguese), Ex. 15 at p. 135 (translation). Despite the Cease 

and Desist, Defendants continue to practice law and market legal services to Washington 

consumers, particularly monolingual Portuguese speaking immigrants from Brazil in 

Washington and the rest of the country.  

 In or about May 2022, Defendants began claiming they could offer their clients the option 

to be represented by an attorney, even though no attorney was employed by ACN. See Croke 

Decl. ¶¶ 10, 14, Ex. 9 at pp. 63, 65–66, Ex. 13 at pp. 163–64. Defendants offered to consumers 

the services of an attorney despite the fact that no attorney had agreed to accept a referral or even 

interviewed the consumers. See Croke Decl. ¶ 14, Ex. 13 at pp. 163–64, 168–69; see also Croke 

Decl. ¶ 20, Ex. 19 at p. 222.  
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D. Defendants’ Actions Have the Potential for Dire Consequences 

Multiple consumers confirm they were misled by Defendants and that Defendants’ 

inability to provide the expected legal services had severe consequences. Consumers believed 

that Nascimento would represent them in their immigration case and accompany them to their 

court hearings. Croke Decl. ¶¶ 10, 14, Ex. 9 at 50–54, Ex. 13 at p. 136, 153. However, Defendants 

failed to tell their customers that Nascimento would not represent them in court. Id. Consumers 

only learned of this the day before or the same day of their court hearing, if at all. Id. In a 

WhatsApp message sent to Defendants on the day of a hearing Nascimento had been hired to 

appear at, a worried client asked, “Where’s the lawyer? We’re already here at the court. They’re 

going to call us in soon. Can you answer me? Is the lawyer Ana coming??” Croke Decl.,  

Ex. 9 at p. 51. Without acknowledging the gravity of the failure or bothering to answer any phone 

calls, Defendants responded, “Unfortunately, Paralegal Ana will no longer be able to represent 

any clients in Court.” Id. 

The client expressed confusion and fear: “And what do I do now? Because I’m here in 

court now, and I was supposed to have a lawyer here today. . . . My God! I feel lost! I've already 

paid you $500. . . . How do I get my money back?? . . . Because I have to get another lawyer 

urgently. If not, they will deport me.” Id., Ex. 9 at pp. 51–53.  

Later, ACN responded with further misrepresentations about Nascimento’s 

qualifications and the immigration process: “When we started your proceedings, Dr. Ana was a 

lawyer. Now, she is no longer a lawyer, but a paralegal. The only difference is that she won’t be 

able to go to court. But after your case is submitted, the hearings will be automatically canceled.” 

Id. Ex. 9 at p. 54. 

 These missed hearings are particularly harmful to consumers seeking asylum. Many 

consumers specifically contracted with ACN for asylum services. Asylum for foreign nationals 

in the United States may be granted based exclusively on persecution or fear of persecution on 

account of the individual’s race, religion, nationality, membership in a particular social group, 
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or political opinion. 8 USC § 1158. In most circumstances, a person must file their petition for 

asylum within one year of arrival in the United States. Id. A grant of asylum by USCIS is 

discretionary and relies in part on a “credibility determination,” which looks at factors such as 

consistency, candor, or responsiveness of the applicant. Id. Nascimento’s practice of 

immigration law was not only unlawful and dishonest, but inadequate at best and devastatingly 

wrong at worst. 

 Another Brazilian national contacted ACN three months after entry requesting 

representation for himself and his wife for their work permit applications and to accompany them 

to court hearings. Croke Decl. ¶ 14, Ex. 13 at p. 134. When the client asked for the cost of her 

representation, Nascimento herself responded: “The amount for you three is $2,800. And I will 

be present at each and every hearing.” Id., Ex. 13 at p. 136. When the client asked “is there a 

possibility of the permit being denied?” Nascimento assured him that “[t]he permit is only denied 

if you’ve done something wrong here in the United States.” Id.  

 On the day of their first hearing, he could not find Nascimento in court and was unable 

to reach her by phone, leaving him alone to represent himself. Id., Ex. 13 at 151–54. After 

receiving assurances, he had expected Nascimento—who he still believed to be an attorney—to 

represent him at a later hearing. Id., Ex. 13 at pp. 154–55. When he asked “I have a question: 

Doesn't the lawyer Ana Nascimento appear in court? How does it work?” ACN responded: “She 

is currently unable to appear in court,” but assured him that his case “has already been sent to 

and arrived in court.” Id., Ex. 13 at p. 155. When the client insisted he needed a lawyer to 

represent him at the hearing and attend with him, ACN simply responded that they would “check 

the date of his next hearing,” never mentioning that ACN could not provide that service. Id. 

When he checked in with ACN to confirm before the hearing, asking if “Dr. Ana [was] able to 

come to the hearings yet,” ACN told him that a different attorney, “Dr. Sandra,” would represent 

him at the hearing. Id., Ex. 13 at pp. 163–64. Two days later, Defendants contacted him to inform 

him that his contract with ACN was canceled and they would issue a refund. Id.,  
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Ex. 13 at pp. 164–65. However, about two weeks later, the consumer reached out because he had 

not received the refund. Id., Ex. 13 at p. 173. Defendants responded that his refund would take 

30 days, and stated that the reason why Ana could not represent him was that “there were 

setbacks due to the informality of some clients . . . .” Id., Ex. 13 at pp. 173–74.   

 Finally, even when Defendants provided the requested services, their advice was wrong. 

In another instance, a woman agreed to pay six thousand dollars for Nascimento to represent her, 

her husband, and their child in an asylum case. Croke Decl. ¶ 12, Ex. 11 at p. 89. The woman 

consulted with ACN, explaining that they left Brazil due to financial hardship. See id., Ex. 11 at 

pp. 88, 95–96. Financial hardship is not a recognized basis for asylum. 8 USC § 1158. 

Nonetheless, Defendants agreed to represent her and file her asylum petition without further 

inquiry into her circumstances or the possibility that they may have a valid basis for seeking 

asylum. See Croke Decl. ¶ 12, Ex. 11 at 101–102.  

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

Whether this Court should preliminarily enjoin Defendants from engaging in and 

advertising the practice of law, in violation of RCW 19.86, and RCW 19.154, during the pendency 

of the State’s lawsuit when Defendants’ actions continue to harm Washington consumers. 

IV. EVIDENCE RELIED UPON 

The State relies upon the declarations, with accompanying exhibits, of Susana Croke and 

Derrick Millett, and the documents and pleadings filed in this case. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. A Preliminary Injunction is Appropriate Because the State has a Clear Right, There 
is a Well-Grounded Fear the Defendants Will Invade the Right, and the Invasion 
will Cause Injury 

A trial court has broad discretion to fashion injunctive relief to fit particular circumstances. 

Rupert v. Gunter, 31 Wn. App. 27, 30, 640 P.2d 36 (1982). A party seeking a preliminary injunction 

must show (1) a clear legal or equitable right, (2) a well-grounded fear of immediate invasion of 

that right, and (3) that the acts complained of have or will result in actual and substantial injury. 
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Rabon v. City of Seattle, 135 Wn.2d 278, 284, 957 P.2d 621 (1998). “[S]ince injunctions are within 

the equitable powers of the court, these criteria must be examined in light of equity, including the 

balancing of the relative interests of the parties and the interests of the public, if appropriate.” Id. 

To establish a clear legal or equitable right, the State need not prove the merits of its case; rather, it 

must demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits. Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue, 

96 Wn.2d 785, 793, 638 P.2d 1213 (1982). 

B. The State is Likely to Succeed on the Merits  

1. Defendants are Engaged in Prohibited Acts and Practices in Violation of the 
ISFPA 

The Immigration Services Fraud Prevention Act (ISFPA) specifically prohibits the acts and 

practices that ACN has made a business of engaging in. Pursuant to RCW 19.154.060, persons who 

are not attorneys or federally accredited representatives are prohibited from: 
 

 (a) Advising or assisting another person in determining the person’s legal 
or illegal status for the purpose of an immigration matter; 

(b) Selecting or assisting another in selecting, or advising another as to 
his or her answers on, a government agency form or document in an 
immigration matter; 

(c) Selecting or assisting another in selecting, or advising another in 
selecting, a benefit, visa, or program to apply for in an 
immigration matter; 

(d) Soliciting to prepare documents for, or otherwise representing the 
interests of, another in a judicial or administrative proceeding in an 
immigration matter; 

(e) Explaining, advising, or otherwise interpreting the meaning or intent 
of a question on a government agency form in an immigration matter; 

(f) Charging a fee for referring another to a person licensed to 
practice law; 

(g) Selecting, drafting, or completing legal documents affecting the legal 
rights of another in an immigration matter. 

RCW 19.154.060(2). As noted above, neither ACN nor Nascimento are permitted to practice law 

or represent others in immigration matters. Despite this, Defendants have engaged in several of the 

above-cited prohibited practices for compensation, including “[s]oliciting to prepare documents for 

. . . another in a judicial or administrative proceeding in an immigration matter,” “[s]electing, 
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drafting, or completing legal documents affecting the legal rights of another in an immigration 

matter,” and “[c]harging a fee for referring another to a person licensed to practice law.”  

ACN’s website openly advertises services including Green Card, Work Visas, Work Permit, 

Visa Extension, Status Change, Asylum, and Citizenship. According to the website, “Ana 

Nascimento,” is increasingly specializing in Immigration Law, and has been working with petitions 

to U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services since 2019 to apply for immigration and non-

immigration benefits. These types of acts and practices violate the ISFPA by representing that 

Defendants possess professional legal skills in the area of immigration law, and are willing and able 

to provide immigration-related legal services that constitute the practice of law. Pursuant to 

RCW 19.154.090, any violation of any provision of the ISFPA is a violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86.020. 

Defendants continue to openly advertise immigration related legal services. Accordingly, 

Defendants’ violation of the ISFPA are ongoing and likely to continue to harm Washington 

consumers. 

2. Defendants have Engaged—and Continue to Engage—in Unfair and 
Deceptive Acts and Practices that Violate the Consumer Protection Act. 

Washington’s CPA bars individuals and entities from engaging in unfair and/or deceptive 

acts or practices in trade or commerce. RCW 19.86.020. The Attorney General may bring actions 

to enjoin unfair or deceptive acts and practices, acting for the benefit of the public. 

RCW 19.86.080(1). When bringing a CPA claim, the State must prove: (1) an unfair or deceptive 

act or practice, (2) in trade or commerce, (3) that affects the public interest. State v. Kaiser,  

161 Wn. App. 705, 719, 254 P.3d 850 (2011). Unlike private plaintiffs, the State “is not required to 

prove causation or injury.” Id. at 719. A plaintiff need not show the act in question was intended to 

deceive, only that it had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. Panag v. Farmers 

Ins. Co. of Washington, 166 Wn.2d 27, 47, 204 P.3d 885, 889 (2009). An act or practice’s capacity 

to deceive “is measured by its ‘net impression’” on the ordinary or “least sophisticated consumer.” 
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State v. LA Investors, LLC, 2 Wn. App. 2d 524, 540, 410 P.3d 1183 (2018), 

review denied 190 Wn.2d 1023 (2018) (quoting Panag, 166 Wn.2d at 50). 

In Washington, “[n]o person shall practice law in this state […] unless he or she shall be an 

active member [of the state bar].” RCW 2.48.170. In fact, it is a crime for a nonlawyer, defined as 

“…a person who is not an active member in good standing of the state bar,” to practice law, or hold 

“himself out as entitled to practice law.” RCW 2.48.180(1)(b), (2). The practice of law includes 

giving advice or counsel to others as to their legal rights, and the selection and completion of legal 

instruments by which legal rights and obligations are established. Perkins v. CTX Mortgage Co., 

137 Wn.2d 93, 97, 969 P.2d 93 (1999); see also GR 24. The key principle underlying unauthorized 

practice cases is a duty to protect the public from the potential harm of the lay exercise of legal 

discretion. Perkins, 137 Wn.2d at 104. “When a person holds himself out to the public as competent 

to exercise legal judgment, he implicitly represents that he has the technical competence to analyze 

legal problems and the requisite character qualifications to act in a representative capacity. When 

such representations are made by persons not adequately trained or regulated, the dangers to the 

public are manifest.” State v. Hunt, 75 Wn. App. 795, 803, 880 P.2d 96 (1994) (quoting 

Dauphin Cty. Bar Ass'n v. Mazzacaro, 465 Pa. 545, 551, 351 A.2d 229 (1976)). 

Defendants plainly violate the CPA by falsely representing themselves as being lawfully 

permitted to practice law and represent consumers in immigration matters. Nascimento is not a 

member of the bar and does not fall into any of the exceptions outlined in the State Bar Act, or by 

the Supreme Court. Nor is Nascimento an “accredited representative” pursuant to 

8 C.F.R. § 1292.1(a)(4). Nonetheless, Defendants’ statements and advertisement create the 

deceptive net impression that Nascimento is licensed to practice immigration law. ACN’s website 

offers a variety of immigration services, including green cards, work permits, and asylum. Millett 

Decl. ¶¶ 5, 9, Ex. 2 at pp. 7–9, Ex. 6 at pp. 26–27; Croke Decl. ¶ 7, Ex. 6 at pp. 19–20. By using 

terms such as “specializing in immigration law” and “immigration services,” Defendants create the 

deceptive net impression that Nascimento has the requisite skills, training, and expertise to prepare 
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immigration petitions, when in fact she does not. Because of these deceptive practices consumers 

were led to believe that ACN was a law firm and that Nascimento was an attorney. 

Further, there is a strong public interest in protecting consumers from Nascimento’s 

continued misrepresentation of her immigration expertise. Practicing immigration law without a 

license can harm consumers, given the lack of certification, training, and supervision by the WSBA, 

Supreme Court, or U.S. Department of Justice. Clients need to trust that the person they hire is 

competently handling cases involving their immigration status and rights to be present or lawfully 

employed in the United States. Further, Defendants’ deceptive conduct targets an inherently 

vulnerable population of immigrants from Brazil with limited English proficiency. Defendants thus 

have engaged in and will continue to engage in unfair and deceptive conduct in violation of 

the CPA. 

C. Defendants’ History of Violations of Law and Current Practices Create a Well-
Grounded Fear That They Will Continue to Violate the CPA and ISFPA 

Defendants’ violations of the ISFPA, and the CPA are ongoing. As of the date of this 

motion, Defendants’ website is actively accessible to the public and offering legal services. A 

preliminary injunction is necessary because this Court—and the State—cannot have confidence 

they will cease violations merely because of this lawsuit. As Nascimento’s history has shown, even 

a Cease and Desist letter from the U.S. Department of Justice, Executive Office of Immigration 

Review (EOIR) has not dissuaded her from practicing law and deceiving consumers. In fact, it made 

her business practices more predatory and hazardous. She changed her website from English to 

Portuguese and began deceiving consumers into believing that ACN had other attorneys available 

to represent them. 

Defendants’ behavior demonstrates that only significant court action is likely to prevent 

further injury to the public. 
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D. Defendants’ Conduct will Likely Cause Immediate and Irreparable Injury 

To prevent immediate, irreparable harm to Washington consumers, the State asks this Court 

to restrain Defendants from practicing law and marketing legal services, including immigration 

related legal services. Irreparable harm will be suffered by Washington consumers if Defendants 

are allowed to continue their unlawful conduct. Defendants have failed to return consumers’ money, 

abandoned consumers at court hearings, negligently drafted numerous immigration petitions, 

advised on immigration matters, sold legal services of attorneys who had not agreed to work with 

them or their clients, and misled consumers about Nascimento’s legal expertise and qualifications. 

An injunction is necessary because even a Cease & Desist letter from the Department of Justice has 

not deterred Defendants from their unlawful and deceptive conduct. 

The public interest in avoiding harm far outweighs Defendants’ interest in continuing their 

business operations. Targeting vulnerable immigrants, new to the United States, and unfamiliar with 

the language or laws, is particularly egregious—especially for those intending to seek asylum 

because of fear associated with their home country. As described above, asylum petitions must be 

filed within one year of arrival. For a newly arrived immigrant in the United States—often without 

work authorization—it may take months to gather the funds necessary to hire an immigration 

attorney. They often put all their trust, and their financial resources into their one shot to remain in 

the United States. Getting bad advice, having services not provided as promised, and losing precious 

resources and time can have dire consequences. At best, a person may have to start their 

immigration process over with less time, or repair their credibility with the court. At worst, they 

may be deported to a country where they face persecution. Defendants’ predatory scheme is not 

only deceptive and unfair to consumers—but can have truly life altering consequences. 

E. Injunction and Security Exemption 

Pursuant to RCW 4.92.080, no security requirement for a preliminary injunction shall be 

required of the State of Washington. 
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VI. CONCLUSION 

The State respectfully requests that the Court preliminarily enjoin Defendants from 

engaging in and advertising the unauthorized practice of law, in violation of RCW 19.86, and 

RCW 19.154, during the pendency of the State’s lawsuit. 

DATED this 28th day of September, 2022. 

  
  
  ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
  Attorney General 
 
 
      /s/Alexandra Kory     

SUSANA CROKE, WSBA #58315  
 ALEXANDRA KORY, WSBA #49889 

Assistant Attorneys General 
 Attorneys for Plaintiff State of Washington 
 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 
 Seattle, WA 98104 
 (206) 464-7744 
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